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The Davenport Hotel occupies an entire city block in the central business district of
Spokane, Washington. It is an unusually complicated building that evolved as a series
of major and minor projects including remodeling, additions and new construction planned,
for the most part, by the same architect. This hotel is a wildly eclectic design
unified only by the dazzling variety of motifs represented.

The structure began in 1889 as a pair of fairly anonymous brick buildings, one two
stories and the other three, occupying the eastern third of the block. A small
restaurant in one of the buildings was expanded and remodeled several times between
1895 and 1901. Between 1901 and 1904 the exterior elevations of both buildings were
separately redesigned and stuccoed with similar white Mission style facades. Known

as the Pennington Hotel and Davenport's Restaurant, the new work included false parapet
gable ends and Mansart-like tile roofs to disguise the flat roofline. At the street

corners on opposite ends of the block small square towerswere added above the existing
walls.

The Pennington Hotel was then joined to the contiguous Pfister Block built in 1905.
Within the Pfister Building the same architect, Kirtland Cutter, added the Marie
Antoinette Ball Room with French doors along two sides, a continuous gallery around

the room, crystal chandeliers and a 20 foot beamed ceiling -- all decorated to resemble
18th century French architecture.

In 1914 the Pfister Building was partially razed for construction of the Davenport
Hotel on the western two-thirds of the block not occupied by the Pemnington Hotel.

The interior of the Pennington was redesigned, but the Marie Antoinette Room was
retained in what was left of the Pfister Block and incorporated into the new 14 story,
400 room hotel. This Cutter detailed in a "Florentine eclectic" style on the exterior
elevations.

The first three floors fill out the remainder of the block to a height roughly equiva-
lent to the Pennington structures. These floors are surfaced in Boise sandstone
trimmed with terra cotta. The first two floors are an arcade of piers and five-
centered arches. Separating this arcade from the third floor is a sub-cornice with

a ram's head frieze. Windows on the third floor are arranged in pairs above each
arch, and the piers are extended to a continuous lintel with a cable moulding.

The upper stories were first built in a "U" shaped plan offset toward the northwest
corner of the block. From that corner it extended approximately two-thirds the length
of the block in both directions, bounded by the older Pennington building on the east.

The open side of the "U" faced north toward the interior of the block where the
three lower floors filled out the remaining third of the rectangular lot. The upper
stories were faced in brick and ornamental white terra cotta. On the north and west
sides there were terra cotta spandrels recessed between brick piers uninterrupted
from the fourth through ninth floors. A sub-cornice at the tenth floor began a two
story arcade defined by terra cotta components in the same rhythm as the arcade on
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the Tower floors. Above this is an elaborate terra cotta cornice and frieze. An
addition in 1929 lengthened the east wing of the "U" extending it across the block to
the other side. This then became the dominant feature of the high-rise portion of
the hotel. On the east facade, the fourth and sixth bays were set back creating the
appearance of three connected "towers". Additional upper stories above the cornice
were completed in 1917 and 1949.

The interior of the hotel is truly amazing. Virtually everything in sight is decorated
with busy ornament of cast and painted plaster or terra cotta. English oak stained
dark is used extensively. The main lobby, 108 feet by 12 feet, was decorated in the
“Spanish Renaissance" style with great neo-Rococo fervor. Its entire twenty foot
beamed ceiling was an expansive skylight of "opalescent glass." It is said that
parrots in cages hung under the surrounding gallery between each set of supporting
piers. There was a profusion of potted palms.

The Isabella Room, also in Spanish Renaissance style but with a "treatment[that] reflects
little, if any, of the Moorish influence shown in the lobby", has an arabesque with
representations of boys, birds, rabbits, foxes, turtles and other creatures. All the
column capitals have bolsters with chimeras -- the body of a lion with cloven hoofs

and a human head.

There was a total of seventeen ball, banquet, and convention rooms elaborately
decorated in a number of different styles. The Hall of the Doges was "strikingly
suggestive of the palaces of Italian Doges of medieval times." Its ceilings are
vaulted and frescoed with a tracery clerestory. The oak paneled Elizabethan Rooms

(A, B, C and D) were in the style of the Tudors "accurately portrayed in every detail.”
The oak furniture was "conscientiously copied from the most famous Elizabethan pieces.”

Other spaces were known as the Gothic Room, Green Room, Mandarin Room and Arabic Tent
Room.

The hotel interior survives with considerable integrity in most places. Carpeting

has been installed and careless repainting has been done in several rooms. New parti-
tions have been added although mostly without disturbing the original work. A good
percentage of the furnishings remained in the building until the Tate 1960's when they
were regrettably sold. The lobby skylight has been tarred over, and a rooftop swimming
pool was installed over the northwestern three-story portion.

The Davenport Hotel is a fascinating eclectic work of exceptional exuberance and
showmanship. P—
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SPECIFIC DATES ]890, 1914 BUILDER/ARCHITECT Kirtland Ke]sey Cutter

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

"The heart of Spokane is a hotel, the world famous Davenport."l The Davenport has
been Spokane's leading hotel since its completion in 1914 and the city's leading
restaurant since 1890. It became internationally famous for its architecture and
imaginative service. Novelist and journalist Will Irwin "is reputed to have said. .
that there are only two outstanding deluxe hotels in the world, the Davenport in
Spokane and Shepheards in Cairo."2 The hotel's superlative service was a result of
the perfectionism of the founder, Louis Davenport; its beauty came from the genius
of Kirtland Cutter, Spokane's foremost architect.

Louis Davenport was born in Pawnee City, Nebraska on July 14, 1868. His family moved
to San Francisco in 1876. Striking out on his own at age 20, Davenport arrived in
Spokane Falls in March, 1889 with $1.25 in his pocket. The great fire of August, 1889
which destroyed the business section of Spokane enabled Davenport to earn $125, enough
to purchase a tent, waffle iron and a sign that proclaimed the opening of "Davenport's
Famous Waffle Foundry". On July 10, 1890 he moved to a new cafe in an 1889 structure
on Sprague Avenue. The present modern restaurant is housed in this original building.

Davenport was a leading citizen of Spokane by the turn of the century. An influential
member of the park board, he helped expand and improve Spokane's unusually large park
system. He was also a member of the board of directors of the Spokane and Eastern:
Trust and the Washington Water Power Company, and a vice president of Ryan and Newton
Company. After retirement and sale of the Davenport, he lived quietly in Suite 1129
until his death in 1951. His prominence socially was both a result and cause of the
hotel's success. His long, productive friendship with architect Kirtland Cutter
created the unique mission style of the restaurant and Pennington Hotel and the
eclectic design of the 14-story Davenport Hotel.

Kirtland Kelsey Cutter was the most influential architect in Spokane's history. "haging
contributed more freely than any other man to the architectural beauty of Spokane."

He was so predominant an influence in early Spokane that it could be said that he
"keyed Spokane in an artistic way."3 Born in Cleveland, Ohio on August 20, 1860,
Cutter was educated at Brook Military Academy. He entered the Art Students' League

in New York and traveled extensively in Europe studying drawing, painting and sculpture.
Because of a friendship with young Austin Corbin II, a Spokane railroad magnate,

Cutter moved west in the late 1880's. His arrival encouraged his uncle, Horace Cutter,
a cashier at the First National Bank, to help him gain employment.
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Like Davenport, the fire of 1889 enabled young Cutter to start his career when there
was a demand for his services. Cutter was among the earlier architects to view a
bui]ding not solely as an envelope, but as an extension to sculpture. He reflected
this in the free style of his buildings. From 1889 to 1923, Cutter designed many of
the great homes in Spokane: the Austin Corbin House, the Campbe]] House (National
Register), the James N. Glover House (National Register), the F. Lewis Clark House,
the Patrick Clark House and numerous others.

Cutter also created some of the finest Spokane business buildings including the
Washington Water Power Building (now the Spokane School District 81 off1ces) the Spokane
City Club and the Sherwood Building. One of his finest Spokane designs is the super-
§tr¥g%¥re of the Monroe Street Bridge which was the largest concrete span in the world

in .

As his fame spread, he designed many structures throughout the United States and
England. He designed the Racquet Club in the Adirondacks, Kirtland Hall at Yale
University, the Rainier Club in Seattle, Glacier Park Hotel and numerous residences.

After World War I his business declined. In 1923, against advice of friends, he moved

to California. The Chronicle Building, one of his largest Spokane designs, was com-
pleted under his direction from California. Despite stiff competition, Cutter was

awarded the 1929 Southern California Chapter of the AIA Award for his work in Palos Verdes.
He died in 1939 at Long Beach.

In 1889, F. Lewis Clark and John L. Wilson erected a two-story structure on the north-

west corner of Post and Sprague. The location was well known in its own right as the

site of one of the first Spokane schools which had been moved to Sprague Avenue and used as the
offices for the Spokane Falls Review (ancestor of the Spokesman Review), during the early
1880's. To the rear of the Wilson Building, another new building, the three-story

Bellevue Block, a rooming house, was erected in 1889. Louis Davenport's restaurant

occupied a small storefront in the Wilson Building until prosperity permitted expansion;

a rooming house, the Pennington, occupied the upper floor until 1904. .

Between 1895 and 1901, the restaurant was remodeled numerous times by Cutter. When
Davenport purchased the Bellevue House in 1904, he moved the facilities of the Pennington
Hotel to the second and third floors of the Bellevue Block and expanded his restaurant
into the upper floor of the Wilson Building. Later purchases and leases extended his
control to the entire city block.

The mission facade that Cutter had designed in 1901 and 1904 to cover the two Post
Street structures, was derived from the innovative California Building at the Columbian
Exposition of 1893 in Chicago, for which Cutter had designed the Idaho Building. Many
of Cutter's homes are mission style, but this is his only commercial structure using the
motif.

By 1906, Davenport's restaurant was widely known for its style and character, and was
enthusiastically described. "The best illustration of Spokane's enterprise is Davenport's
restaurant which is one of the most unique and nearly perfect restaurants in America. It
covers a block and represents an out]ay of a little over a quarter of a million dollars.

the style of the architecture is early mission but inside there are Flemish,
German, French and Marie Antoinette rooms.
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Most of these rooms were incorporated into the modern hotel in 1914. The Marie Antoinette
room was on the second and third floors of the Pfister Building, which Davenport leased

as a portion of the Pennington. This greater size of the Pennington Hotel explains its
lasting reputation. The rear portion of the Pfister was retained due to the cost of
replacing the unique Marie Antoinette room.

The hotel was a collaboration of the efforts of Kirtland Cutter and Louis Davenport.
Backed by publisher N. H. Cowles, Davenport bought all rights to the block bounded by
Lincoln, First, Post and Sprague. The building, costing $3 million, was begun in 1913
and completed in August, 1914. Although the hotel shows Florentine and Sullivanesque
influences, it is an eclectic design in true Cutter tradition. It was praised by
architects and engineers as the finest building in Spokane. The hotel is the largest
building designed by Cutter and his most impressive. The pre-eminence of the Davenport
might be judged in the comment, "that some people have said about Spokane,that the city
is built around a hotel.">

In 1911, the Georgian room was remodeled in Art Nouveau by Cutter for Teddy Roosevelt.
Since Roosevelt's time, most American presidents have been guests at the Davenport. From
Queen Marie of Rumania to Mary Pickford, the Davenport has housed and entertained the
great figures of mid-century America. For Marshal Foch, the Marie Antoinette room was
turned into an apple orchard with live apple trees bearing fruit. During John Phillip
Sousa's visit his band played-on the roof garden dance floor. From the suites of the
Davenport the Grand Coulee Dam was planned by Roy Gill and General G. W. Goethels.

Vachel Lindsay, the great American poet, lived at the Davenport from 1924 until
Christmas, 1927. He praised the modern beauty and elegance of the hotel. Statin

"there is something in the very ceiling of the Davenport that suggests ambition,""” Lindsay
would write some of his greatest works before the lobby fireplace.

The Davenport has dominated Spokane's social, cultural and political scene since 1890.

To remove all references to the Davenport, would eliminate much of Spokane's social history.
Shadowed today by the high rise buildings of the 1970's, the Davenport remains the

largest and most elegant hotel in the Inland Empire and Spokane.

1 Nancy Wilson Ross. Farthest Reach, New York, 1941, p. 200.

2 Ibid., p. 200.

3 uspokane I1lustrated”, The Western Architect, XII, 1908, p. 37.
4

Charles D. Raymer and Company. Raymer's Dictionary of Spokane, Spokane, 1906, p. 52.

(8,1}

Frederick Jennings.. "Most Notable Architecture and Landscape Architecture of Spokane,

o

Eleanor Ruggles. The West-going Heart, New York, 1957, p. 340.
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Spokane, Washington", Architect and Engineer, San Francisco, LXV, 1925, pp. 47-67.

Raymer

Raymer, Charles D. and Company, Raymer's Dictionary of Spokane, Spokane:
and Company, 1906.

Ross, Nancy Wilson, Farthest Reach, New York: Knopf and Company, 1941.

Ruggles, Eleanor, West-going Heart, New-York: W. W. Norton Company, 1959.
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DAVENPORT HOTEL (BOUNDARY DECREASE)

Resource Count
The boundary decrease effectively revises the resource count by deleting one contributing
building, leaving only one contributing building.

Description
The boundary decrease deletes the land area formerly occupied by the Wilson and Bellevue

Blocks (also referred to as the Pennington and Davenport’s Restaurant in the 1975
documentation), which were demolished in 2001.

Significance
As a result of the demolition, that portion of the originally listed full city block that contained the

Wilson and Bellevue blocks has lost the qualities for which it was originally listed and is being
removed from the National Register.

The period of significance is reduced to “1914-1945,” to reflect the construction dates of the
remaining extant portion of the property (Davenport Hotel) and delete references to the earlier
¢.1890 buildings.

Geographical Information
The Boundary Decrease area being removed encompasses Lots 5 & 6, Block 6, Railroad

Addition, or approximately 1/4 acre, leaving .71 acres listed in the National Register. The
revised Verbal Boundary Description now reads: Lots 1-4, Block 6, Railroad Addition. The
bounds of the Boundary Decrease area are shown on the attached sketch Map VBD.

The new bounds are justified by the total demolition of the historic buildings that occupied those
lots. The extant Davenport Hotel building retains sufficient integrity and significance to remain

individually listed in the National Register of Historic Places.

The U. T. M. Coordinates remain unchanged.
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information requested. If any item does not apply to the property being documented enter "N/A" for "not a pTcable For functions, architectural

classification, materials, and areas of significance, enter only categories and subcategories from the instructions. Place additional entries and narrative items
on continuation sheets (NPS Form 10-900a). Use a typewriter, word processor, or computer, to complete all items.

1. Name of Property

historic name Davenport Hotel
other names/site number

2. Location

street & number 807 West Sprague Avenue not for publication N/A
city or town Spokane vicinityN/A

state Washington code WA  county Spokane code 063
zip code 99201 '

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1986, as amended, | hereby certify that this x nomination
request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the National Register of Historic Places and
meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60. In my opinion, the property meets does not meet the
National Register Criteria. | recommend that this property be considered significant ___ nationally ____ statewide ,x locally. (__ See
continuation sheet for additiopal comments.)
77 . 2804
Signature of certifyin Date
__WASHINGTON STATE HISTORIC PRESERVATION OFFICE
State or Federal agency and bureau
Tn my opmion, the property meets does not meel the National Register criteria.
( __ See continuation sheet for additional comments.)
Signature of commenting or other official Date
State or Federal agency and bureau
4. National Park Service Certification .
|, hereby certify that this property is: Signature of Keeper: Date of Action:

_____entered in the National Register
____See continuation sheet.
___ determined eligible for the
National Register
____See continuation sheet.
___ determined not eligible for the
National Register
____removed from the National Register
____ other (explain):

1
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Spokane County, WA

5. Classification

Ownership of Property Category of Property
(Check as many boxes as apply) (Check only one box)
X private X building(s)
___ public-local __ district
___ public-State ___ site
___ public-Federal ___ structure
___ object

Name of related multiple
property listing

(Enter "N/A" if property is not part of a
multiple property listing.) N/A

Number of Resources within Property
(Do not include previously listed resources in the
count.)

Contributing Noncontributing

1 0 buildings
0 0 sites

0 0 structures
0 0 objects

1 0 Total

Number of contributing resources
previously listed in the National
Register

0

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

CAT/sub:
DOMESTIC/hotel

Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

CAT/sub:
DOMESTIC/hotel

7. Description

Architectural Classification (Enter categories from
instructions)

LATE 19™ & 20™ CENTURY REVIVALS
Other: Italian Renaissance

Materials (Enter categories from instructions)
foundation concrete

roof asphalt

walls steel, concrete, sandstone, brick, terra cotta

other

Narrative Description (Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)

See Continuation Sheets
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8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria (Mark "x"
in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property
for National Register listing)

X A Property is associated with events
that have made a significant contribution
to the broad patterns of our history.

X B Property is associated with the
lives of persons significant in our past. -

X C Property embodies the distinctive
characteristics of a type, period, or
method of construction or represents the
work of a master, or possesses high
artistic values, or represents a significant
and distinguishable entity whose
components lack individual distinction.

D Property has yielded, or is likely to
yield information important in prehistory
or history.

Criteria Considerations
(Mark "X" in all the boxes that apply.)

___ A owned by a religious institution or
used for religious purposes.

removed from its original location.

B
C abirthplace or a grave.
D acemetery.

E

a reconstructed building, object, or
structure.

F acommemorative property.
G less than 50 years of age or achieved

T significance within the past 50 years.
Narrative Statement of Significance

Areas of Significance
(Enter categories from instructions)

Architecture
Entertainment/Recreation
Community Planning & Development
Commerce

Period of Significance
1914 to 1945 period of operation by Louis
Davenport

Significant Dates

1914, 1917

1929 Gustav Albin Pehrson designed east wing
addition

Significant Person
(Complete if Criterion B is marked above)

Louis Davenport

Cultural Affiliation
N/A

Architect/Builder

Architectural firm Cutter & Malmgren
(Kirtland Kelsey Cutter

Karl Gunnar Malmgren)

Olmsted Brothers (Landscape Architects)
Brayton Engineering Co. (Builder)
Gustav Albin Pehrson (Addition)

(Explain the significance of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)

See Continuation Sheets



Davenport Hotel - Spokane County, WA

9. Major Bibliographical References

Bibliography
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Narrative Description:
DAVENPORT HOTEL

Designed by the regionally significant Spokane architectural firm of Cutter & Malmgren and constructed in
downtown Spokane, Washington over a six year period from 1908 to 1914 (including design), the twelve-story,
stylistically late Nineteenth and Twentieth Century Revival Italian Renaissance style Davenport Hotel stands
within walking distance of a multitude of shops and restaurants and the Spokane Falls. It boldly anchors the city’s
core as it has done for over eighty years. The building’s architectural style, modeled on palaces in fifteenth-century
Florence, draws on this association to recall the flourishing growth of Spokane as the economic, political and
cultural center of the Inland Empire during the 1910s when the hotel was constructed.' The nearly square 200’-
07”x155’-0" footprint of the hotel occupies four flat lots on the western two-thirds of the city block bounded by
West Sprague Avenue on the north, West First Avenue to the south and flanked by South Post Street to the east
and South Lincoln Street to the west amidst an urban setting. Significant character-defining features of this
building are its concrete-encased steel frame; veneer of Boise sandstone (base) and brick (upper stories);
fenestration; terra cotta detailing, pressed metal cornice and flat roof; penthouses; primary north and south
entrances with their marquees and entrance lobbies; the primary public spaces and function rooms in the basement
and first through third floors, including their finishes, materials, detailing, lighting fixtures and door hardware.
Exceptionally significant secondary spaces include the third floor Ladies Waiting Room; the first floor shop and
retail functions, hotel reception and check-in spaces on the first floor; and the layout of guest rooms and hallways .
on the upper floors.

The north, west and south sides of the hotel above the full basement feature street frontage, with the east side
abutting the adjacent new addition constructed in the former location of the Wilson and Bellevue Blocks. The three
initial stories of the hotel form a solid base from which the remaining nine stories continue upward in a U-shaped
plan. The connecting portion of the U faces north towards the city center and the Spokane River, and the light well
within the U opens to the south with a skylight at the base of the light well illuminating the central lobby. The
historically significant 1929 addition by the regionally significant Spokane architect Gustav Albin Pehrson extends
from the east wing of the U to the southern edge of the building.? A broad, overhanging pressed metal cornice
defines the roof line, tying together the 1914 and 1929 portions. Penthouses are found above the east, central and
west portions of the building.

! Matthews, Henry. (1998). Kirtland Cutter: Architect in the Land of Promise. Seattle: University of Washington Press.

? During the design process for the hotel, Cutter & Malmgren continued to revise their 1912 drawings, even as the excavation for the foundation proceeded, ultimately
increasing the base to three stories, changing the shaft height from eight stories to six, and adding an additional story above the Florentine windows, thus balancing the
proportions between the base, shaft and capital as well as providing larger windows for each guest room. [Matthews, Henry. (1998). Kirtland Cutter: Architect in the Land
of Promise, Seattle: University of Washington Press.]
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Interior spatial organization of the first through third floors orients around the central lobby’s natural lighting with
shops, restaurants, offices and rooms placed around the building perimeter. This basic organizational form of the
layout transfers down to the basement. Within the upper U-shaped stories, including the penthouse additions,
central hallways in the connecting and wing sections of each floor provide circulation. Placement of hallways
along the inner middle portion with rooms around the outer perimeter of each of the fourth through twelfth floors,
ensures each room an exterior window for ventilation and natural day lighting. The 1929 addition functions as an
extension of the original layout with a central hallway extending from the east wing hallway serving four perimeter
rooms. The U-shaped plan also facilitates future expansion by leaving the building’s south side over the third story
open for addition as originally intended by the designing architects, Cutter & Malmgren.

Exterior walls consist of a rusticated Boise sandstone-clad two-story base, painted in the 1950s, with brick veneer
on the upper stories. Broad original storefront display windows with transoms extend along the north, south and
west facades defining the street level, with arched multiple-lite second story windows above. The third story,
trimmed with terra cotta, constitutes a narrow band separating the broad supportive base from the hotel’s vertically
emphasized six story central portion. 3 Reddish brick piers with English Bonded brick veneer continue the entire
height of the building’s central portion before transitioning to the diamond-patterned brick work of the building’s
crowning two stories, highlighted by round arches and decorative terra cotta trim and balconies. The massed
corners in the original 1914 portion of the building feature single rather than paired window openings, framing
each facade and conveying to the arriving guest a sense of the underlying structure and stability. The historically
significant 1929 addition, which begins at the fourth story level, continues these same cladding and decorative
materials and elements, with the exception of a terra cotta belt course present above the ninth story on the.
addition’s south and west facades.

Between the second and third stories, a cornice accents the base and features terra cotta rams’ heads representing
“push and determination” and Mercury s staff with entwined serpents symbolizing “commerce” surmounted by a
closed helmet indicating “protection.”* Ornamental iron lanterns between the first and second stories directly
below the symbolic terra cotta elements illuminate the sidewalk and lower building exterior. The building’s
structural system (both the original 1914 portion and the 1929 addition) consists of a concrete-encased steel frame,
reinforced concrete floors and an internal column grid on each floor for internal flexibility to accommodate
changing hotel needs.

3 Terra cotta elements were manufactured at the Washington Brick & Lime Company plant in Clayton, WA just under 30 miles north and slightly west of Spokane. The
Clayton School, nominated to the National Register in 2003, utilized some of the rams” head pieces left over from the Davenport Hotel construction.

4 Spokane Chronicle, undated clipping cited in: Matthews, Henry. (1998). Kirtland Cutter: Architect in the Land of Promise. Seattle: University of Washington Press. (pg.
242).
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Windows for the individual first floor storefronts consist of broad display windows retaining their original metal
trim and decorative leaded glass transoms with contemporary glass in the display windows. On the second and
third stories, smaller multiple-lite single hung wood sash windows open into the interior, maintaining visibility
while affording slightly increased privacy for semi-private spaces near street level. Double hung metal clad
contemporary wood 1:1 windows with lug sills and recessed spandrels punctuate the guest and service rooms of
the upper fourth through ninth stories in both the original 1914 portion and the 1929 addition.’ The Florentine tenth
and eleventh story windows feature double hung wood 1:1 windows recessed within openings trimmed with terra
cotta. Narrow groupings of three double hung wood 1:1 windows accent the thin band of the twelfth-floor service
spaces. The building corners from the third through eleventh stories each feature a single window opening to
maintain the visual massing of the comers.

Penthouses project from immediately behind the pressed metal cornice and low perimeter parapet, covering the
entire roof of the original 1914 portion and the historically significant 1929 addition. The penthouse roofs are flat
with low parapets and bituminous sheet roofing. Roof drains leading to interior down spouts connect to the city’s
storm water system, providing drainage for the roof. .

Entrances to the Davenport Hotel consist of the two original primary central entrances on the building’s north and
south sides, with original secondary entrances off South Lincoln Street, and individual shop entrances on the north,
south and west facades. The original ornate marquees define both primary entrances having contemporary
revolving and sliding doors set in metal frames on the south and north entrances, respectively, to conduct guests to
the elevators and central lobby. The west entry from South Lincoln Street is in its original location, although with
contemporary doors and framing, and provides access to an interior stairwell and the central lobby. The original
staff entry on South Lincoln Street descends to the basement adjacent the former timekeeper’s office. The
respective shops around the first story perimeter feature their original independent, slightly recessed entrances, and
entry detailing, although with contemporary doors.

Constructed over the third story, the fourth story terrace features built-up composite roofing with a layer of
insulation between the concrete slab over the third floor and the contemporary synthetic composite pavers covering
the terrace. Contemporary planters and free-standing lighting fixtures provide ambiance and hide the 8” concrete
projections throughout the terrace that are the upper portions of the structural columns continued above the third
story roof slab as part of the original design to facilitate attachment of future additions.

3 Originally, the east facade upper story windows were reportedly metal-clad for fire safety reasons.
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Interior Layout

The interior layout of the hotel consists of a rectangular floor plan oriented around a central rectangular lobby.
Circulation on the first floor radiates from this central lobby at right angles on each of the north and south sides
and east and west corners. The basement features a similar layout with a perimeter hallway around the central
function room. By the second and third floors, the concentric hallways are a greater distance out from the central
portion. These same two floors establish the vertically aligned hallway location continued by the upper floors. The
hotel’s upper floors continue in a U-shaped form with a central transverse hallway connecting shorter hallways in .
either wing in vertical alignment with the outer third floor hallway. The hallway in the 1929 addition functions as
an extension of the east wing hallway. Functional groupings in the basement consist of a mix of staff facilities,
storage for service spaces, as well as a contemporary function room and original entertainment space for guests.
The first floor consists of the original lobby, shops, function rooms, entertainment and services spaces as well as
two contemporary dining areas. The second floor similarly features original function rooms, entertainment and

- service spaces, and contemporary offices and conference rooms. The third floor, although containing the upper
portion of Marie Antoinette Room, focuses primarily on guest rooms. The fourth through twelfth floors of the hotel
in both the original 1914 portion and the 1929 addition place functional emphasis on contemporary guest rooms
with staff space concentrated in the east portion of each of these floors.

There are four distinguishable spatial divisions on the first floor arranged around the central lobby with radiating
corridors providing access to the exterior and service spaces. Divisions within the floor consist of the central lobby
(including the balcony, corridors and elevator lobbies) and the shop, office, staff and contemporary dining spaces
along the north, south, west and east sides of the first floor. :

The lobby, per Cutter & Malmgren’s original design intent, functions as a central point to facilitate arriving guests
and provide a social node for assembly prior to and lingering after events in the adjacent function rooms. The
Spanish Renaissance style employed by Cutter throughout the space embodies this aspiration as a hospitable
central arbor. The original marble floor with rugs, central white Italian marble fountain and a monumental
fireplace at the west end provide a welcoming atmosphere. Massive pillars with a faux caen-stone finish support
the second floor mezzanine gallery. These pillars continue up to carry the large transverse built-up steel beams
spanning the lobby that are plastered and painted to represent oak beams. A metal railing extends around the
mezzanine level gallery with a contemporary non-obtrusive safety railing attached along the inner side. Skylights
with opalescent glass and wood mullions above the lobby and gallery permit daylight into the interior. A
comprehensive set of iconography devised by Cutter to detail the beams consists of portrait medallions and coats
of arms, as well as griffins and helmets carved into the friezes on the plaster around the steel and concrete beams.’
These carved plaster elements are painted with blues, reds and gold and glazed over with gray to imbue an aged,
antique effect. Elaborate hanging bronze lanterns along the lobby perimeter and wall mounted candelabra-type
wall sconces provide artificial illumination.

6 Matthews, Henry. (1998). Kirtland Cutter: Architect in the Land of Promise. Seattle: University of Washington Press.
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The building perimeter around the lobby consists of four main cardinally oriented sections -- the north, south, west
and east sides. The north side of the first floor consists of thirteen bays. The central bay contains the main north
entry corridor, leaving six bays to either side. Shops and dining spaces in the northwest end are three bays deep
measured between the lobby and building exterior. The northeast gallery and dining spaces are only two bays deep
as the hotel service and office staff spaces occupy the inner bay adjoining the lobby. The original Davenport
Flower Shop occupies the eastern most bay of the north side of the first floor, and retains the shop’s historic heated
and cooled display cases, counter and decorative metal work from its historically significant 1930 remodel by G.
A. Pehrson. The main reception and check-in desk for the hotel is located immediately adjacent on the Flower
Shop’s west side fronting the lobby. One of two original check-in desks faces the lobby; the other faces the new
east entrance from the recent east addition. Staff offices behind the desks are accessed from a doorway adjacent to
the original key storage cabinet. An art gallery just north of the offices fronts West Sprague Avenue. On an east to
west axis, this gallery occupies the entire refinished space between the Flower Shop and the north entrance. The
original concierge desk is located just west of the check-in area, fronting the lobby. West of the north entrance is
the new Peacock Room, the hotel lounge, having a central bar, cigar room, contemporary carpet floor covering,
wall and ceiling finishes and small tables around the perimeter. The Peacock Room also extends into the north
portion of the first floor’s west side. Between the Peacock Room and the north entrance is the Davenport Candy
Shoppe.

The first floor’s south facade is configured similarly to that of the north, consisting of thirteen bays. However, the -
central bay comprising the main south entry corridor is oriented towards providing access not only to the lobby but
also to the Isabella Room. An entry vestibule measuring a single bay square in size off the east side of the south
entrance corridor leads to the Isabella Room. The new Palm Court Restaurant occupies the western portion of the
first floor’s south side. A doorway from the main south entrance corridor.as well as an open walkway and short
flight of stairs off the lobby’s southwest corner provide access to the dining area. Tables situated along the outer
perimeter of the rectangular restaurant space look onto both the lobby, West Sprague Avenue and South Lincoln
Street, leaving a central rectangular staff space for serving and cashiering. The kitchen for the restaurant is situated
on the west end of the first floor lobby just off the dining area’s northwest corner.

The Isabella Room, named by Davenport in honor of Queen Isabella of Spain, is a large hardwood floored dining
and ballroom featuring eight faux-marble finished columns. These columns divide the room into a central east-
west aisle flanked by two narrower aisles. Mirrors mounted along the walls per Cutter & Malmgren’s original
design intent increase the luminescence and sense of activity and breadth of space within the room. Beams
spanning the room feature carved plaster arabesque designs surrounding figures of youths, rabbits, foxes and
turtles. The carved plaster column capitals feature chimeras with chandeliers hung from their mouths. Additional
ceiling-hung chandeliers over the room’s central aisle provide further illumination. Depending upon the function,
tables are moved in and out from the adjacent serving area located off the room’s northeast corner. Windows along
the Isabella Room’s south side provide natural day lighting.
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The east side of the hotel consists primarily of service space, a service elevator and a stairway. The service space is
three bays wide by three bays deep. The service elevator and stairway are centrally located for ease of access and
adjacent to the exhaust and fresh air intake shafts. Catered meals for functions in the Isabella Room are moved

. from the basement kitchen through these service spaces to the service space off the Isabella Room’s northeast
corner providing discrete behind the scenes service. Immediately north of this service area, with direct access to
the reception and check-in area, is the bellboy’s space. The adjacent alcove fronting the lobby contains a small
espresso bar. ' '

The second floor consists of the central gallery of the lobby, two entertainment rooms dominating the north and
southeast comers (the Elizabethan and Marie Antoinette Rooms), four conference and board rooms in the
southwest corner, the new hotel offices along the northwest comer, and a conference room and general manager’s
office in the former State Suite. The east portion of the floor contains service spaces. A public restroom provides a
buffer between the office spaces and Elizabethan Room on the floor’s north side, and its facilities accommodate
the volume of people attending events held in the function rooms. Storage and service space and a short corridor
separate the Marie Antoinette Room from the southwest boardrooms.

The central lobby gallery drives the organizational layout and circulation pattern for the second floor. The gallery
also provides an exceptional waiting area with views over the main lobby, and features small tables along the
perimeter metal railing for guests to sit and converse or work during breaks between events and conferences. The
supporting faux-stone finished pillars continue up from the first floor lobby to frame the carpeted gallery walkway
with carved plaster brackets painted in faux wood-graining, lending decorative bracing between the beams and
pillars. Opalescent glass skylights between the beams provide natural day lighting for the gallery with wall
mounted electrical sconces for artificial illumination. Service and office spaces on the second floor feature
contemporary wall and ceiling finishes. The public restrooms feature contemporary marble flooring and
wainscoting, recessed lighting with four sinks in each, sixteen stalls in the women’s, and five stalls and fifteen
urinals in the men’s. ' ~
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The Marie Antoinette Room features its own entry vestibule. A brief flight of stairs and a contemporary ADA
ramp lead up from a short corridor that connects the Marie Antoinette Room with the gallery around the first floor
lobby, the principal stairway leading to the first floor lobby and the new adjacent Roosevelt Room. Service spaces
are located between the entry vestibule to the Marie Antoinette Room and the outer building wall. The Marie
Antoinette Room evokes eighteenth century France with its chaste elegance, ivory and French gray color scheme.
Plaster medallions of court jesters garlanded with laurel leaves accent the fascias of the gallery. The hardwood
85’x47’ ballroom floor suspended on steel cables lends buoyancy unattainable on ordinary ‘dead’ floors. As the
dancers move, their motions generate a wave affect. This, however, does not interfere with the room’s function as
a banquet hall, as the diners do not generate the same vibration. The carpeted gallery and metal railing wrap around
the upper portion of the room with access on the gallery’s west end to the original third floor Ladies’ Waiting
Room. French doors open off the north and south sides of the Marie Antoinette Room for ventilation and access to
the lobby gallery. Three original crystal chandeliers illuminate the room. A serving room on the east end of the
second floor serves both the Marie Antoinette Room and the Elizabethan Room to the north.

The Elizabethan Room on the north side of the second floor features a hardwood floor and functions as a smaller
. banquet room divisible by folding oak partitions into three individual dining areas. The room’s dark oak paneling
exhibits heraldic crests with ornamental plasterwork on the ceiling emulating late Tudor designs. The room is
illuminated by restored solid silver chandeliers. Windows along the outer north wall provide natural day lighting.
A coatroom is located across a narrow hallway to the south of the room. Off the Elizabethan Room’s southwest
corner is a small service area for functions held in the room.

The third floor consists primarily of contemporary guest rooms, each with their own bathroom, situated along the
north, west and south sides. The upper portion of the Marie Antoinette Room occupies the southeast corner, with
some service spaces located along the east side. A carpeted hallway with contemporary wall and ceiling finishes
services these spaces and wraps around all four sides of the floor between these two layers of rooms, with the
exception of the southeast corner over the Marie Antoinette Room. The original Ladies’ Waiting Room connects to
the Marie Antoinette gallery’s west end. The waiting room features the original sink fixtures, tiled walls and stalls.
Windows on the south side of the waiting room provide natural day lighting, with a central ceiling fixture for
artificial illumination. The lobby area of the Marie Antoinette gallery and Ladies’ Waiting Room are connected to
a short corridor just west side of these spaces. The corridor leads to both a bowed window overlooking the glazed
roof covering the lobby skylight and to the main stairway down to the second floor lobby gallery. A second direct
flight of marble stairs also descends from the Marie Antoinette gallery lobby to the second floor lobby gallery.
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The hotel’s upper floors’ U-shaped plan features a basic vertically-repeating layout, retaining the historic
functional groupings, placement and vertical alignment, as well as the original elevator lobbies and hallway
functions. Hallway configuration in the U-shaped plan remains consistent throughout the upper levels. A
transverse central hallway extends out from the central elevator lobby on each floor and continues along the east
and west wings of the U-shaped plan. Guest rooms are arranged along the outer building walls on either side of the
hallways. Service rooms are similarly arranged, although concentrated exclusively in the east end around the
service elevator and stairway. The central hallway features an original stairway at the west end, recessed
contemporary electrical cabinets on the south side at both ends, and a new alcove for the ice machine just east of
the central elevator lobby. The east and west hallways of the upper floors end with doorways to guest rooms on
either side. All hallways feature contemporary walls, lighting and finishes with new carpet floor covering.

The upper floors feature contemporary guest rooms along the outer walls of each floor. Guest room sizes remain
vertically consistent between the fourth through eleventh floors. All guest rooms, with the exception of the original
‘Circus Room, are new and have contemporary walls, lighting fixtures, finishes, door hardware, furnishings,
bathrooms and closets. Bathroom placement for each room functions as a sound buffer with the bathroom situated
between the sleeping area and hallway. All bathrooms feature a built-in tub, walk-in marble finished shower, toilet
and washbasin with a marble counter and a large wall-mounted mirror above the counter. A closet provides storage
space. The sleeping portion of the room contains a wood dresser, a wood frame bed and desk. Recessed electrical
luminaries provide artificial lighting in addition to the natural day lighting afforded through the windows.

The Circus Room, completed ca 1935, was a guest room that Louis Davenport had decorated for his friend Harper
Joy, a businessman who often joined the Ringling Brothers Circus as a clown. Located on the east side of the
seventh floor (number 730), the room features original carefully restored appliqué motifs depicting a circus parade
along the upper wall portions. Original balloon type glass electrical lighting fixtures illuminate the carpeted room.
Windows provide natural day lighting. A contemporary bathroom off the north side services this room.

The fourteenth floor penthouses consist of the new Presidential Suite in the south portion of the west wing, and the
Governor’s Suite in the northeast comner of the floor with additional rehabilitated penthouses interspersed between.
The fourteenth floor maintains the basic layout with a north hallway, flanking east and west hallways with rooms
located around the outer perimeter of the floor to maximize the number of windows, affording ventilation and
natural day lighting for each suite. Service spaces remain concentrated in the central east portion directly off the
service stairway and elevator. The penthouses, hallways and service spaces all feature contemporary lighting and
plumbing fixtures, appliances, door hardware, ceiling, wall and floor finishes. Each penthouse features a
contemporary gas fireplace.
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The basic layout of the basement retains the historic functional placement of a central function room with service
spaces grouped along the east, south and west portions, and public guest spaces along the north side with an
approximately 9’ wide corridor wrapping around the central function area. The original portion of the corridor off
the public guest spaces is marble clad with historic art glass in the south side. The public guest spaces consist of
the original Pompeian Room as well as a new poolroom in the former electrical vault room (just east of the
Pompeian Room), the new Spa Paradiso (just west of the Pompeian Room) and a new central function room. The
Pompeian Room, originally the basement barbershop, features the original white marble wainscot and flooring
with Pompeian red trim. The vaulted ceiling features original carefully restored fresco paintings. Stools line the
east side with manicuring stations on the west side and a central reception desk. A single original barber stool, lone
survivor of previous remodels, remains in the Pompeian Room. Behind the desk are a dispensary and storage
rooms. The poolroom features a 16’-07x45’-0” pool with a smaller Jacuzzi north of the pool. A door from the
public corridor provides access to the room. The service room for the pool is located off the room’s southeast
corner. The Spa Paradiso consists of central lockers with a lounge and office on the east side, exercise room to the
south, storage on the north, and facial, massage and tanning rooms on the west side. The approximately 40°’x77’
central function room, used for dining and dancing, features a hardwood floor with contemporary lighting fixtures, -
wall and ceiling finishes. Historic etched glass panels, retained from the historically significant Early Bird
Breakfast Club that replaced the 1923 Turkish Baths in 1939, flank the primary north entrance to this space.

Service spaces in the basement consist of four main types. These are staff facilities (such as lockers and cafeteria),
the main kitchen servicing the hotel and function rooms, storage areas (for hotel supplies and the kitchen), and
service rooms (such as the carpenter and painting shops). The main kitchen is in the southeast corner, staff lockers
and cafeteria on the east end with electrical vaults just north on the far east edge. Laundry and housekeeping
occupy the southwest corner of the floor, with workspaces for painting and building maintenance in the central
west portion. Food storage for the bar and main restaurant is in the south central portion between the main kitchen
and laundry and housekeeping. All service spaces, although new with contemporary lighting and plumbing fixtures
and finishes, continue historically significant functions.

Stairways within the building provide public and service access from and between the main basement through the
third floor with two original stairways connecting the upper levels of the building for emergency egress. The
primary public stairways consist of two original quarter-turn stairs on the north and south sides of the lobby
.adjacent to the elevator lobbies. These stairs continue as half-turn stairways between the second and third floors.
Another original half-turn stair leads up from the north side of the lobby to the second floor mezzanine just west of
the north entrance. This stairway continues through the upper floors and provides emergency egress. A third
original marble-finished primary stairway leads from the mezzanine gallery level surrounding the lobby to the
Marie Antoinette gallery. A broad original stairway leads from South Lincoln Street down to the basement on the
west side, providing access to the service spaces. Additional service stairs off the South Lincoln Street entrance
provide service access to the basement. On the upper floors, in addition to the central stairway adjacent to the
elevator lobby, an original stairway on the west end of the corridor provides egress for guests with a service
stairway in the south end of the east wing for hotel staff.
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Elevators consist of passenger and service elevators. Three passenger elevators in their original hoistways are
located on the north side of the building flanking the entrance corridor. A matching lobby configuration on the
south entrance, included in the original design, anticipates the addition of three additional passenger elevators
should upper floors ever be added to the building’s south side. The elevator’s new cabs feature contemporary wall,
ceiling and floor finishes. The new service elevator centrally located on the building’s east side in the original
hoistway provides access to service spaces on all floors as well as the basement kitchen. The elevator is used to
bring catered meals and room service to guest rooms and the function rooms on each floor.

Building systems in the hotel are intended to fully equip the hotel to maintain itself and cater to the needs of its
guests. Most of the new mechanical, HVAC, and electrical systems are located in the new addition to minimize
their impact on historically significant public spaces in the hotel. Electrical vaults occupy the northeast corner of
the basement. New ductwork, electrical and communication wiring, and plumbing service public spaces and
function, office and guest rooms on the basement through third floors, with the exception of the Marie Antoinette
and Isabella Rooms which retain some historic ductwork. The ductwork in public and function spaces utilizes
historic openings and grilles with some unobtrusive new openings on the west end of the first floor lobby. The
fourth through fourteenth floors feature new concealed ductwork, electrical and communication wiring, and
plumbing throughout.

The site consists primarily of new concrete sidewalks along the north, south and east sides of the building.
Contemporary streetlights along the curb provide artificial lighting during the evening and night with
contemporary planters as decorative elements.

Development Chronology

Louis Davenport once stated his priorities in hotel management as “first Utility; second Life; third Beauty [...].””
The original design, internal organization, furnishings, finishes and amenities of the Davenport Hotel aptly
reflected and achieved this by providing a safe, fireproof structure for efficient business operation which was also
capable of transporting visitors to a fanciful and exciting world far from the familiarity of their daily lives and
anticipating their every need. The passage of time and subsequent owners have added, altered and removed
elements of the original building fabric and spaces as well as historically significant additions (defined as those
changes undertaken prior to 1945). The record of non-historic post-1945 changes, while not defining the historical
significance of the hotel, does convey an important understanding of the chronology of changes to the existing
historically significant building fabric and spaces being nominated and present the basis for the following findings
of the extent of intact fabric for the individual spaces within the hotel.

7 Davenport Hotel, Spokane, U.S.A.: The Pride of an Empire: One of America’s Exceptional Hotels. (ca. 1915). Spokane: W.K. Shissler. (Forward by L. M. Davenport, and
pg 8). ’
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In summary, the Davenport Hotel’s local and regional significance under criteria “C” (design/construction) and
criteria “A” (events) stems directly from the hotel’s character-defining original and historically significant public
spaces and exceptionally significant secondary spaces, the public corridors, stairways and elevators servicing them,
the building’s function as a hotel, and the supportive contributing role of secondary staff, service, retail and

restaurant spaces. These public and exceptionally significant secondary spaces consist of the:
=  Building exterior

Main north and south entrances and elevator lobbies

Main first floor lobby and second floor gallery

Isabella Room

Pompeian Room in the basement

Public basement corridor and elevator lobby
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